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Our Fitzsimons

Out east of Denver not too far away
above the skyline alone it stands

A sanctuary for the sick and wounded
where trust is placed in able hands

Where men and women and youngsters too
are ever cared for night and day

Where life so precious to us all, is fought for too
with help from Him we pray

The doctors and nurses and all who tend the 11l
have thankless tasks "tis true

Their deeds in fact oft overlooked
and patient's "thanks" or chief's "well done" too few

But patients still to "Fitz" each day with faith in care and comfort seek
Those fine few whose chosen work this is to cure and heal and soothe the weak

And life goes on and life stops too and they try the best they can
To help all those who need this place this edifice for the sick and wounded soldier man.

-Kenyon Cozine

(Editor's note: Kenyon Cozine was a technician in the Medical Distribution System at Fitzsimons.)
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DEDICATION

There are a few people 1'd like to thank, because
without them, the history book would not have happened:
Sgt. Martin Haywood, Public Affairs; Sheri Muehlbauer and
Doris Sachanandani, Department of Clinical Investigation;
and Martell Tully, Department of Surgery.

How do you begin to tell the history of a 78-year old
landmark institution? We can’t begin to estimate the number
of people who ve come through the gates every day starting
back in 1918. The soldiers...the sailors...the airmen and the
Marines...their families. The military doctors, nurses
...nutritionists...the food service workers, ...the janitors...the
researchers...the students...the generals...the privates...the
civilians.

the sergeants major...the lieutenants...the engineers, the
entertainers...the commissary stockers...the logisticians...the
company commanders...the old, the young...the women...the
men...the firefighters, the police, the photographers...

the church goers...the golfers...the list could go on for-
ever. They all had one thing in common . We all had a com-
mon mission. Taking care of the wounded. Over the years,
our mission expanded. We taught, we conducted research.
We trained. We went to war. And through it all, we took
care of patients. Every minute of every hour; every hour of
every day. For 78 years.

We 've done our duty. And so it comes to this final
salute. This commemorative historical book is just a small
token, dedicated to all of those who came before us. More
people than I could name are very, very special and each
deserves a place in our history.

Thank you all for being a part of our history. The
history of the Fitzsimons Army Medical Center Family.

Helen Littlejohn
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The Vision:

We are and will continue to be a
World Class Health Care Organization.

Mission statement:

* The maintenance of health

* The restoration of health

* Health care delivery in peace and war

* Education from the beneficiary level, to
include sophisticated Graduate Medical
Education

* Research at all levels, to include technical
methods of health-care delivery on the
battlefield
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History at a Glance

1500’s Pawnees control South Platte Valley north of the Platte river
Jicarilla Apaches control land between South Platte and the Arkansas rivers

1540 Francisco Vasquez de Coronado’s expedition gave Spain claim to the entire Great Plains

1700s. French traders violate Spanish claim and infiltrate area
Comanche and Ute alliance drive Apaches southward

1800 French acquisition of Louisiana Territory
Kiowa and Comanche share grounds south of the Arkansas River after being pressured southward by
incoming Arapaho and Cheyenne

mid-1800s Sioux tribes used northeastern Colorado hunting grounds

1803 United States acquires land in Louisiana Purchase

1804-1820s Trappers and traders spread information about the area

1806 Zebulon Pike’s expedition of central Rockies to survey newly acquired land

1810 Pike publishes his account of the expedition, land west of the Mississippi River was described as

“sandy deserts”

1820 Major Steven Harrimon Long expedition of South Platte River basin, the “Great American Desert”
1840 Buffalo robes replace beaver pelts as main article of western fur trade
1858 William Green Russell discovered gold at Dry Creek
1859 Earliest attempt at irrigation by David Wall
1860 Brantner Ditch in Adams County constructed
1861 Congress established the Colorado Territory
The Treaty of Fort Wise offered Arapahoes and Cheyennes reservation land in eastern Colorado
1862 Congress chartered the Union Pacific Railroad to construct the eastern link of the transcontinental
railroad
1864-65 Overland Trail closed due to Anglo/Native American conflicts
1867 Two treaties signed at Medicine Lodge, Kansas attempted to established Anglo peace with the

Kiowa, Comanche, Apache, Arapaho, and Cheyenne
1869 Battle of Summit Springs ends Anglo/Native American conflict

1870 Completion of Kansas-Pacific railway from Kansas City westward and the Denver Pacific railway
connecting Cheyenne and Denver

14



1876

1889

1891
1893
1895

early 1900s.

1901
1902-1918
1907

1917

Feb. 1918

Apr. 1918
Oct. 13, 1918
1919

1920

1926

1929

1933

Nov. 1934

1935

Oct. 1936

1937

Colorado’s admission to statehood
Federal government transferred land, earlier reserved, to Colorado including section 36
which included the Fitzsimons area

Donald Fletcher, Thomas S. Hayden and Samuel Marsten Perry platted the Aurora Subdivision

Town of Fletcher (Aurora) incorporated
Colfax Electric Railway connects Denver with Aurora
Section 36 sold at public auction to numerous buyers

Denver Civic and Commercial Association campaigns Denver area as ideal for tuberculosis hospital
to officials in Washington

Gutheil Park Subdivison became home to Gutheil Nursery
Buyers of Section 36 acquire land patents
Town of Fletcher becomes Aurora

U. S. entered World War I
Colonel George E. Bushnell sent to Colorado to inspect sites for recuperation camp

War Department recommended to Congress $500,000 be expended on construction
of the Denver hospital

Ground broken for the new hospital, Army General Hospital No. 21
Hospital opens
Hospital grounds construction completed

War Department redesignated the new facility Fitzsimons General Hospital in honor
of 1st Lieutenant William T. Fitzsimons

Fitzsimons radio station KEUP

Chamber of Commerce and federal government sign 999 year lease at $1.00/year and land reverts to
Chamber of Commerce if abandoned by government

Surgeon General R. U. Patterson sent radiogram stating Fitzsimons would be abandoned and all
patients transferred

Congressman Lawrence Lewis led arguments to keep Fitzsimons open

Congress approved funds to keep Fitzsimons open

Surgeon General Patterson again recommends closure

Congressman Lewis countered closure proposal

War Department allocated funds for new construction and grounds improvement for Fitzsimons

President Roosevelt visits Fitzsimons and vows to maintain the hospital

Full title to the land was implemented ordering transfer of the title from the Chamber of Commerce to
the government of the United States

15



1938

Jan. 1939

Dec. 1941

1942

1944

1947

1948

1950

1952

1953

1954

1953-1961

1955

late 50s

1959

1960

$3.75 million approved for new hospital construction
Construction began on new hospital

Hospital dedicated by Congressman Lewis
First patients from World War II arrive

Prisoner of War camp for Italian, anti-Nazi Germans, few Japanese

Women’s Army Corps members arrived
August 11, three members of the Japanese Navy prisoner patients attempted to commit suicide.
Several weeks later they were shot to death in a prison ward riot.

Prisoner of War camp razed
Fitz was one of the first hospitals to use Streptomycin to treat tuberculosis

Fitzsimons General Hospital renamed Fitzsimons Army Hospital

Hospital unit from Fitzsimons stationed in Japan, 279th General Hospital, welcomed patients
from the Korean front

Pre-school and kindergarten opened

Hospital 8th floor auditorium named for COL George E. Bushnell

Fitzsimons was chosen to perform clinical research on dextran, which was considered a plasma
substitute

Korean prisoners of war treated at Fitzsimons

First class of Advanced Medical Technicians graduate

Establishment of three departments; Medicine, Surgery, and Neuropsychiatry

Microfilm books were flashed on the ceiling for patients who weren't able to use their hands
Four Fitz. medical men went to China as consultants in the treatment of tuberculosis

Six temporary barracks and recreational buildings were leased to Adams-Arapahoe School District
No. 28 to be used as a junior high school

Facility was annexed to the city of Aurora

Hypothermia, as an anesthetic technique, was used in heart operations
Nutrition lab tests irradiated foods

New chapel opened

Fitzsimons Credit Union opened

Radioisotopes used in the diagnosis and treatment of disease

Fitz was known world-wide for treating systemic coccidiomycosis (Valley Fever), a disease caused
by a fungus from the soil

First class of Advanced Medical Specialists graduate

Fitz. doctor pioneers new surgical technique to repair an exstrophy of the bladder
Telephone dialing goes to 5 digits at a cost of $150,000

Radiology service installed a revolutionary X-ray machine for cardiac examinations

Fitzsimons Army Hospital renamed Fitzsimons General Hospital

Radiology service installed new machine which could process X-ray film in 7 minutes
1,057th TB patient received travel orders for duty

Fitz. blood bank aligns with the American Association of Blood Banks

16



1961

1963

1964

1966

1967

1968

1969

1970

1971

1972

1973

1974

Hospital services were expanded to include neuropsychiatry, obstetrics, pediatrics, and radiology
Full preventive dental health program started
New Department of Hospital Clinics began
Three Fitzsimons doctors help with the man in space program
Fitzsimons assumes inpatient and outpatient care for Air Force members and families
First Lowry long-term patients sent to Fitz. in phase-out of Lowry hospital

The new canteen on the ground floor of Building 500 opened.
Soldiers from Fitzsimons carried the 50 state flags in the May 12th Armed Forces Day parade
at Lowry Air Force base. The theme was "Power For Peace".

Indian Health Service nurses train at Fitzsimons for the first time.
Fitzsimons soldiers were instrumental in forming a volunteer fire department in the Sable-Altura area
east of the hospital

CBS News team filmed TV show of Fitzsimons, including a feature on Sgt. Bill Floyd who had been
medically evacuated from Vietnam

Amputee ski program joined with Children's Hospital
Inhalation therapy clinic opened as a subsection of the non-TB section of the
Pulmonary Disease Service

Fitzsimons gears to accept Vietnam casualties
TB control is computerized
First Teaching Chiefs' Conference

First military and Denver area hospital to adopt the "unit dose" system for drug dispensing
$99,000 malignant treatment machine installed which enabled patients to receive radiological therapy
Cleft Palate Clinic established, the 4th such clinic at military hospitals

Ground breaking for the new home of the optical lab and medical maintenance school
Symbol for "Operation Parent Lift" created by Pat Oliphant, who later became a nationally syndicated
editorial cartoonist

Drug dependency program began for returning Vietnam veterans.
Ann Gilmore Dye, Miss Anne, was honored for 47 years of devoted service to Fitzsimons.

Former railroad right-of-way extending north of Fitzsimons Army Medical Center was conveyed to
the City of Aurora for park purposes and land along the south entrance was conveyed to the
Colorado Highway Department

First Army hospital to obtain an Argon Ion Laser Photocoagulator which was used in treating some
eye problems

Deactivation of the 47th General Hospital which was a 1,000 bed unit for emergency preparedness

Hospital redesignated Fitzsimons Army Medical Center
Fitzsimons set to care for liberated Vietnam returnees
New Outpatient Clinic opened in Bldgs 408-409

First WACs in medical maintenance course

Fitzsimons took over the Rocky Mt. Arsenal dispensary

129-man barracks were constructed, six temporary buildings disposed

First WAC joined post MPs

Ann Dye Community Center dedication, formerly the Patient's Recreation Hall
Nutrition Lab moved to Letterman Army Institute of Research

Readiness Region VIII moved to Fitzsimons from the Rocky Mt. Arsenal

17



1975

1976

1977
1979

1980

1982

1983

1984

1985

1989

ber

early 1990's

1992
1993
1995

1996

Post Exchange and Auto Hobby Shops were completed

New Post Exchange opened June 19, cost $1.3 million

Fitzsimons volunteers participated in Operation Baby Lift -500 infants and children
were flown from Vietnam to Denver

Officers' Club Pub opened May 14
First open house for Army retirees-draws more than 700 participants
FAMC barracks go coed

TB ward was closed

$3.75 million CT scanner delivered in March

Reserve Training Center was built

Channel 9 Health Fair

$1.4 million McWethy USAR Center dedicated April 12

First Army medical center to have a full time civilian home nursing services coordinator
Shopping carts for the handicapped debut at the commissary

Camp Ireland, located near Indian Hills, was a satellite of Fitzsimons

Disabled horseback riders perform for Princess Anne

First pediatric patient put on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD)

Blizzard in December stranded many workers

Animal Housing Facility was added
$195,000 Flow Cytometer acquired, laser beam aids cell research

Two new barracks were erected

Linear accelerator facility was constructed as an addition to the main hospital building
AIDS research began

Fitzsimons Army Medical Center removed from Base Closure studies
Operation Just Cause, 32 FAMC soldier medics deploy to Gorgas Army Hospital, Panama in Decem-

New Discharge Pharmacy opened aimed at improving therapeutic outcomes
Hospital was placed back on closure studies
Operation Desert Shield
FAMC soldiers deploy and the Fitzsimons staff mobilizes to assist families
Nursing shortage
Magnetic Resonance Imaging equipment acquired
Prospects good to begin new hospital
Fisher House, Credit Union, Child Development Center, and Burger King were completed

Hospital slated for closure by the Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) decisions

Fitzsimons Army Medical Center inactivated June 8
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knowledge about the American
Southwest, described the land west of
the Mississippi River as being
unsuitable for agriculture. Pike’s
view of the Great Plains as “sandy
deserts” influenced settler’s percep-
tions of the region for many years to
come.

Following Pike’s expedition,
the next official government survey
into northeastern Colorado was led
by Major Stephen Harriman Long in
1820. Traveling westward along the
South Platte River, the Long expedi-
tion explored the area where the river
flows from the mountains, near the
future site of Denver. Accompanied
by a team of scientists, Long supplied
the first detailed account of the South
Platte River basin. Like Pike, Long
also contributed to the myth of the
West as an uninhabitable area, the
“Great American Desert.”

In the decades that followed,
several more American explorers
investigated northeastern Colorado.
Chief among these were the explora-
tions of John C. Fremont, who made
five expeditions between 1842 and
1854. The widely-published reports
of Fremont, who was popularly
known as “The Great Pathfinder,”
further increased American interest
in the frontier. In 1843, during his
second expedition, Fremont passed
through present-day Adams County,
where he visited an Arapaho village.

The acquisition of the Louisiana
Territory also encouraged private
citizens to explore the new land,
particularly trappers and traders who
followed waterways across the plains
toward the mountains in search of
beaver and other fur-bearing animals.
A French Creole trader, Baptiste La
Lande, arrived in northern Colorado
in 1804. The following year, James
Purcell and a small band of hunters
also trapped in the Rocky Mountains
west of the South Platte River basin.
During the 1820s, when beaver hats
became fashionable in Eastern
markets, there was an even greater
influx of fur-trappers into the area.
Among them were James Ohio Pattie,
Andrew Sublette, and Louis Vasquez.

By 1834, Vasquez had established
Fort Convenience at the mouth of
Clear Creek in present-day Adams
County. Other forts in the area
included Fort Vasquez (No. 2), Fort
Lancaster (later known as Fort
Lupton), and Fort St. Vrain.

Although few trappers and
traders became permanent settlers in
northeastern Colorado, their travels
spread information about the region,
including reports of gold discoveries.
In addition, their routes of travel into
the mountains became established
trails. By 1840, buffalo robes had
replaced beaver pelts as the main
article of western fur trade. Unlike
beaver pelts, buffalo robes were too
bulky to be carried by pack animals
or boat. They had to be hauled by
wagon, and this traffic brought the
first wagon trains into northeastern
Colorado.

The Colorado Gold Rush
Early Trails, and
Transportation: 1858-1870

In 1858, a party of Georgians
led by William Green Russell
discovered a small amount of gold at
Dry Creek. The news of this discov-
ery brought forth an influx of gold-
panning prospectors, many of whom
had also followed the California gold
rush of 1849. In 1859, when three
large lode claims were made in what
would later become Gilpin, Clear
Creek, and Boulder Counties, people
from across the United States were
lured to the region by the promise of
gold. Many of these gold-seekers
settled in the area permanently.

These new settlers brought with them
a desire for organized government

and, in 1861, Congress established
the Colorado Territory. In the same
year, the territorial legislature created
seventeen counties, including
Arapahoe County, from which Adams
County would be created in 1902.

It has been estimated that as
many as 100,000 gold seekers set out
for Colorado in 1859. Although
probably less than half of that

21

number reached the Pike’s Peak area,
the influx of prospectors, merchants,
and promoters quickly transformed
the fledgling settlement of Denver
into an important regional center.
The city also became a major
destination point for emigrant and
stage routes. At least nineteen
emigrant guidebooks were published
between 1858 and 1859, each of
which advised prospective settlers on
the best routes to Denver and the gold
fields.

Westward-bound travelers could
choose one of three major routes to
Denver, all originating on the
Missouri River between St. Joseph
and Kansas City. The northern route
was the South Platte Trail, which
followed the old Oregon Trail
westward along the Platte River. At
Julesburg, Colorado, the trail
branched along the South Platte
River into Denver. The southern
route to Denver followed the Santa Fe
Trail along the Arkansas River, and
then traveled northward along the
historic Cherokee Trail to Cherry
Creek.

The central route, the shortest to
the gold fields, was the Smoky Hill
Trail, which ran approximately one-
and-a-quarter miles south of the
present site of Fitzsimons. The
Smoky Hill Trail was the most recent
path created and, because it crossed
arid plains, the most dangerous.
Water was scarce, and the trail often
became several miles wide as
travelers wandered in search of food.
Numerous acts of starvation and
cannibalism were reported along the
trail, earning it the nickname “the
Starvation Route”.

Beginning in Leavenworth,
Kansas, the Smoky Hill Trail ran
along the Kansas River, then fol-
lowed the fork of the Smoky Hill
River to Old Cheyenne Wells,
Colorado. In Colorado, the Smoky
Hill Trail divided into three branches.
The routes of these trails varied,
following high ground in wet weather
and valley roads when it was dry. As
such, the trails could wander over an
area several miles wide. The Middle



Smoky Hill Trail, the oldest of the
three branches, approximately
parallels the route of today’s Smoky
Hill Road. The Smoky Hill South
intersected with the Cherokee Trail
near the present site of Parker. The
Smoky Hill North split off from the
Middle Smoky Hill Trail and entered
Denver from the east. The Smoky
Hill North eventually replaced the
Smoky Hill South, which last
operated as a stage line in 1866. An
unidentified early trail is mapped by
Glenn R. Scott as passing through the
northwestern corner of Fitzsimons
from the east before connecting to the
Smoky Hill North Trail. This trail
may have been one of the variations
of the main trail used during ex-
tremes of weather.

The Smoky Hill North also
served as the route of the Fort
Morgan Cut-Off of the Overland
Stage Line. The stage line, which
followed the South Platte River Trail,
forked at Fort Morgan, Colorado, and
a branch of the line connected with
the Smoky Hill North Trail leading
into Denver. Known as the Fort
Morgan Cut-Off, this branch of the
Overland Stage Line traveled in a
southwesterly direction across Adams
County, following Bijou and Kiowa
Creeks. At Living Springs, the cutoff
divided into two forks, one leading to
the Kiowa stage station, the other to
the Box Elder station near Watkins.
The Toll Gate Overland Stage station
was located on the north side of Toll
Gate Creek, approximately one mile
southeast of Fitzsimons grounds

In 1862, Congress chartered the
Union Pacific Railroad to construct
the eastern link of the transcontinen-
tal railroad. Denver was severely
disappointed when the planned route
bypassed the city, favoring instead a
northern path through Cheyenne.
The community realized that its
viability rested on securing rail
connections to the East, and promi-
nent businessmen, such as William
Evans initiated plans to promote and
develop local railroad projects. In
1870, the Kansas Pacific building
westward from Kansas City, and the

Denver Pacific, connecting the main
tracks at Cheyenne to Denver, were
both completed, ending the isolation
of northeastern Colorado. The
arrival of the railroads ushered in a
period of prosperity and growth for
the Denver area. The tracks of the
Kansas Pacific (later the Union
Pacific) ran approximately one mile
north of Fitzsimons.

Native American
Interaction: 1700-1869

By the mid-1800s, several
successive groups of Native Ameri-
cans had utilized northeastern
Colorado for hunting and camping.
By the 1500s, the Pawnees controlled
much of the South Platte Valley north
of the river, while the Jicarilla
Apaches controlled the land between
the South Platte and the Arkansas.
During the early 1700s, incoming
Comanches and their allies, the Utes,
drove the Apaches south. The Utes

were a mobile society of hunters who

eventually occupied most of the
western slope and controlled the
mountain passes. During the 1800s,
the Kiowa allied with the Comanches
and shared their hunting grounds
south of the Arkansas River after
being pressured southward by
incoming Arapaho and Cheyenne.
One of the first reports of Arapahoes
and Cheyennes on the eastern plains
was offered by the Long expedition in
1820. From the early 1800s, most of
eastern Colorado north of the
Arkansas River was occupied by the
Arapahoes and the Cheyennes. The
Sioux also used northeastern Colo-
rado as hunting grounds during the
mid-1800s.

Denver is situated where the
high plains intersect the base of the
mountains. This area was utilized as
a hunting ground by several groups
of Indians, but none had a strong
hold on it. Since none of the tribes
dominated in this strip of land, none
offered as much resistance to Anglo
settlements in this locality as in other
parts of the state. When trapper
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Rufus B. Sage traveled through the
present site of Adams County in
1842, he encountered an encampment
of Arapaho Indians who were on
their way to the mountains to hunt
game. Sage found that the Arapa-
hoes “maintained terms of the
strictest friendship...with the whites.”

The Pike’s Peak gold rush, the
immigrant trails, and the coming of
the railroads had a profound effect on
Colorado’s Native American popula-
tions, including those who lived in
what now comprises the greater
Denver metropolitan area. As gold
seekers and immigrants moved
westward in increasing numbers, the
Indian tribes of northern Colorado
found their traditional way of life
disintegrating. New trails and tracks
disrupted the Indians’ territorial
grounds, buffalo and other wildlife
were killed or driven away, and new
towns were established on land that,
by treaty, belonged to Native Ameri-
cans.

The 1860s were a time of great
conflict between Colorado’s Anglo
and Native American populations,
particularly on the plains. While the
trappers and hunters had coexisted
with the Native Americans, the
prevailing sentiment of the new
settlers was one of manifest destiny,
that the Indians were doomed to
vanish before the march of civiliza-
tion. The Treaty of Fort Wise (1861),
which offered the Arapahoes and
Cheyennes a reservation in eastern
Colorado, was followed by numerous
clashes between the Indians and the
military. During 1864 and 1865,
Indian raids along the South Platte
were so frequent that the overland
trails were closed, and Denver was
often cut off from communication
with the East. In 1867, two treaties
signed at Medicine Lodge, Kansas,
attempted to establish peace with the
Kiowas, Comanches, Apaches,
Arapahoes, and Cheyennes. The
Battle of Summit Springs in 1869
marked the last battle against the
Plains Indians in Colorado.

High Plains Irrigation and
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The Campaign for a
Military Tuberculosis
Hospital in Denver,
1917-1918

The United States entered
World War I on 6 April 1917. By
that date, the Allies, who had been
involved in the monumental struggle
since 1914, were desperate for
manpower. Preparations for mobili-
zation of America’s forces had begun
months before America joined the
fight and the unprecedented expan-
sion of facilities and manpower
accelerated. Shortly after the first
American troops landed in Europe,
civic and commercial leaders in the
Denver area began a campaign to
encourage the construction of a
military post in their city.

The Denver Civic and Commer-
cial Association, forerunner of the
Denver Chamber of Commerce, led
the campaign to acquire a military
facility for the Denver area. Gover-
nor Julius C. Gunther urged the
group to visit Washington, D. C. to
request the establishment of a
training camp near Denver. Denver’s

geographic position in the interior of
the country caused the War Depart-
ment to ignore it when establishing
cantonments and when calling for
contracts for munitions and supplies.
One official, however, suggested that
“Denver was the finest place on earth
for a recuperation hospital.”
Mobilization for the war
required the expansion of medical
facilities to provide care for many
types of war-related casualties. Many
soldiers returning from Europe in the
early months of the war were found
to be suffering from pulmonary
diseases resulting from prolonged
exposure in trenches, underground
bunkers, and battlefields. The idea of
attracting a military recuperation
camp which would serve such
casualties soon gained favor with
Denver leaders. William G. Evans, a
prominent member of the Civic and
Commercial Association, suggested
that if Denver could not obtain a
cantonment, it might be more
successful at attaining a recuperation
camp for those suffering from
pulmonary and respiratory ailments.
The climate of Colorado had

long been believed to be beneficial in
the treatment of tuberculars. The
cool, dry, air and large number of
days per year with sunshine were
regarded as advantageous for such
patients and many homes were built
with open sleeping porches. Histori-
ans Stephen Leonard and Thomas
Noel have opined that “one of
Denver’s most viable industries
during the depressed 1890s was
tending tuberculosis patients.” By
the early twentieth century, several
institutions for the treatment of the
white plague had opened in Denver
and hundreds of tuberculars had
come to the city for treatment. The
first facility, National Jewish Hospital
was established in 1892 and opera-
tional by 1899. Other Denver area
sanatoriums quickly came into
existence, including the Jewish
Consumptives Relief Society (1903),
Agnes Memorial Sanatorium (1904),
National Swedish Hospital (1908),
Craig Hospital (1909) and Bethesda
(1914).

Acquiring a military recupera-
tion camp specializing in the treat-
ment of tuberculars seemed a logical
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step to Denver citizens, who wel-
comed the economic benefits of
treating the “one-lunged army.” In
addition to its advantageous climate,
local boosters believed that Denver’s
labor supply, its railroad network, its
pleasant residential neighborhoods,
its business and industrial sectors,
and its location between the East and
West coasts made it a desirable site
for a military hospital.

In 1906, the Navy affirmed
Colorado’s beneficial climate when it
established a tuberculosis hospital at
Fort Lyons, later redesignating it the
Navy Hospital at Las Animas. The
Army had a western tuberculosis
hospital at Fort Bayard, New Mexico,
and the Public Health Service had a
similar institution at Fort Stanton,
New Mexico. The Army recognized
the need for the enlargement of its
facilities after the advent of World
War I, but Fort Bayard’s limited
water supply controlled its ability to
expand. Therefore, the organization
decided to build such hospitals in
several locations around the country.

Believing the time was right to
push for the creation of a tuberculosis
hospital in Denver, the Civic and
Commercial Association appointed
William G. Evans, Cass E.
Herrington, and John C. Mitchell to
present the group’s request to
officials in Washington. In the
capitol, Clark Hinton, secretary of the
Denver and Colorado Manufacturers’
Association, pushed the effort. Cass
Herrington reportedly “had more to
do with obtaining the great institu-
tion than any other one person” and
his unfailing efforts in acquiring the
hospital for Denver would win him
the title “the father of Fitzsimons.”
Herrington was a prominent attorney,
who had served as county attorney for
Arapahoe County and president of
the Denver Bar Association.
Herrington was also a member of the
State Council of Defense, a group
appointed by the governor following
the country’s entry into World War |
to mobilize the resources of the state.

William G. Evans, the son of
territorial governor John Evans, has

also been lauded for his efforts
toward obtaining the hospital. Evans
had been president of the Denver
Tramway Company, an investor in
banks and railroads, and was one of
the most powerful businessmen in
Colorado. Reportedly, he used his
influence to obtain a meeting with
the Surgeon General in order to
convince the Army that Denver was
the best site for a new tuberculosis
hospital. Present at the meeting was
Colonel George E. Bushnell, who had
spent two years in Colorado recover-
ing from tuberculosis. Bushnell was
a medical officer with the Surgeon
General’s office and a recognized
pioneer in the treatment of tuberculo-
sis. The Denver group detailed the
benefits of Colorado’s climate for
those suffering from the disease,
noting that it had “the right amount”
of dryness and the “correct amount of
ozone.” In addition, the price of food
in Denver was shown to be favorable
in comparison to other cities.
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